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 i 

QUESTION PRESENTED 

 
1. Whether claims challenging a company’s statements describing its 

environmental commitments, practices, and risks are inactionable under 

15 U.S.C. § 78j (b) as a matter of law, and whether the claims adequately 

plead scienter.  

 

2. Whether a claim for control person liability under 15 U.S.C. § 78t (a) 

requires a party to allege that the control person was a culpable 

participant in the primary violation.  
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

 On August 10, 2018, Respondents filed a class action lawsuit against 

Red River Exploration Company and Red River company owner, Mr. James 

Wilson, on behalf of the purchasers of common stock for the time period of 

March 2, 2018 through August 2, 2018. (R. 8). The action was filed in the 

District of Fordham and asserted a securities fraud claim against Red River 

under Section 10(b) of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as well as a 

control person liability claim against Mr. Wilson under Section 20(a) of the Act, 

15 U.S.C. § 78t(a). (R. 8-9). 

 On September 10, 2018, Red River and Mr. Wilson filed a Rule 12(b)(6) 

motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted, 

and the District Court granted the motion on October 9, 2018. (R. 10). The 

Respondents appealed the decision, and the Court of Appeals reversed the 

decision of the District Court. (R. 12). Red River and Mr. Wilson filed a Petition 

for a Writ of Certiorari to the Supreme Court, and Certiorari was granted on 

February 1, 2019. (R. 37). 

 
STATEMENT OF FACTS 

 The Red River Exploration Company was founded in West Texas in 1962 

by Mr. Wilson. (R. 2).  Red River has since become one the United States’ larger 

independent oil exploration companies under Mr. Wilson’s leadership.  Id.  Due 

to Mr. Wilson’s risky, but creative, business strategies, Red River discovered oil 

formations that larger companies had written off, producing more West Texas 

Light Crude than the multinationals had estimated as probable reserves.  Id.   
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 In need of more investment capital in 1985, Mr. Wilson took Red River 

public.  Id.  Red River registered on the New York Stock Exchange under the 

1934 Securities and Exchange Act, listing its Midland, Texas office as its 

primary place of business.  (R. 3).  Mr. Wilson serves as board chairman and 

chief executive officer.  Id.  Pamela Thompson was named chief operating and 

environmental officer, and Sandra Grimes was named senior vice president and 

general counsel for Red River.  Id.  Both Ms. Thompson and Ms. Grimes spent 

their early careers in large oil field service companies and are well schooled in 

regulatory compliance and public company disclosure requirements.  Id.  

 In the late 1990s, Mr. Wilson began to worry about Red River’s future as 

it seemed as if there was a limit to the productivity of domestic oil fields.  Id.  

However, during a trip to the North Texas College in Plano Texas to receive an 

honorary doctorate, Mr. Wilson met a geology professor who expansively 

described and expressed belief in a process called hydraulic fracking 

(“fracking”) to extract oil that was previously inaccessible.  Id.  Mr. Wilson went 

“all in” on evaluating fracking’s commercial feasibility and established new 

credit facilities with Houston Banks. (R. 4).  In 2000, Red River bought in the 

first deep fracking wells to drill down into the West Texas Darnett Shale.  By 

2018, Red River had a market capitalization of over one hundred and ten 

billion dollars.  Id.  

 The process of fracking involved pulverizing shale rock formations with 

millions of gallons of water, sand and chemicals in order to bring oil and gas to 

the surface.  Id.  Vertical wells were drilled thousands of feet into the earth, 
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battering shale rock formation, horizontally over its expanse.  Id.  The shale 

rock was then battered with high-pressure fluids in order to fracture it and 

release the oil and gas, which would then flow out the head of the well.  Id.  

This process creates millions of gallons of wastewater, which is stored in 

“closed container” tanks and then piped to treatment plants.  Id. Fracking 

brought with it the potential for environmental concerns related to air 

pollution, ground water and soil contamination.  Id.  Environmental risks and 

events were addressed in annual and quarterly disclosure documents, which 

emphasized that such events had never materially impacted Red River’s income 

or operations.  Id.   

 In late 2017, Red River received phone calls from university geology 

departments reporting low-level seismic activity in the Eagle Ford Shale, an 

area of active Red River fracking.  (R. 5).  An email exchange between Ms. 

Thompson and Ms. Grimes indicated that the calls did not rise to a level 

requiring disclosure, and certainly did not warrant a suspension of fracking in 

order to investigate.  Id.  Red River determined that the low-level activity was 

more likely to be caused by the deep discharge of massive amounts of 

wastewater than by fracking activity.  Id.   

 At the same time, Mr. Wilson was engaged in discussions with his 

engineering team about Red River’s toxic wastewater storage facilities.  Id.  The 

engineers concluded that the system was structurally sound but expressed 

some concern that it had come close to reaching capacity on a few of occasions 

and suggested Red River consider adding additional storage capacity.  Id.  Due 
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to the engineer’s conclusion that the system was structurally sound, Mr. 

Wilson decided to expand the storage facilities only if operations were 

expanded.  Id.  

 In January 2018, Mr. Wilson explained in an email to Ms. Thompson and 

Ms. Grimes his view that Red River’s environmental disclosures focused too 

much on minor environmental mishaps.  Id.  Mr. Wilson believed these 

disclosures were unbalanced and gave the impression that Red River was not a 

good corporate citizen.  Id.  After attending a talk at Midland’s Petroleum Club, 

Mr. Wilson voiced to Ms. Thompson and Ms. Grimes that a more positive tone 

was needed for Red River’s public statements and disclosure documents.  (R. 

6).  Red River’s commitment to environmental compliance, its dedication of 

resources to this effort, and its views on the adequacy of steps taken to protect 

the environment were all to be clearly and repeatedly stated.  Id.  Thus, Red 

River’s disclosure documents were revised to emphasize its focus on 

environmental compliance.  Id.  

 Red River’s March 1, 2018 Annual Report and Form 10-K stated, “[t]here 

is no higher priority than ensuring that our drilling activity continues to be 

conducted in a manner consistent with protecting the environment and 

preventing or remediating any damage resulting from an environmental 

occurrence,” and “[o]ur commitment to protecting the environment is 

unwavering and constant.”  Id.  They further stated that the company invested 

in “the latest technology in order to minimize surface water or soil 

contamination,” and that this investment differentiated Red River from its 
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competitors.  Id.  They continued that Red River “conduct[s] frequent 

environmental practices reviews to assure our commitment to environmental 

best practices and devote[s] our most talented personnel and a substantial 

budget to ensuring protection of the environment.”  Id.  They concluded by 

noting that the fracking process “involves no serious environmental issues not 

associated with conventional drilling.” Id.   

 Later, at a May 15, 2018 conference of oil and gas securities analysts Mr. 

Wilson stated, “I think we have the tightest environmental practices in the West 

Texas oil patch” and “[c]andidly, I honestly believe a major environmental event 

has about a zero percent chance of occurring on our property. We just pay too 

much attention for that to happen.”  Id.  Mr. Wilson did not pre-clear his 

statements with Ms. Thompson or Ms. Grimes.  Id.  

In early May 2018, Red River again received phone calls from geology 

departments reporting increased low-level seismic activity in the Eagle Ford 

Shale.  (R. 7).  Ms. Thompson expressed concerns after hearing scattered 

anecdotal reports of low-level seismic activity attributable to fracking in South 

Dakota.  Id.  However, after considerable thought and deliberation, Mr. Wilson, 

Ms. Thompson and Ms. Grimes decided the report did not warrant disclosure.  

Id.  Instead, an investigation would take place in conjunction with Red River’s 

upcoming environmental practices review in July.  Id.  Ms. Thompson and Ms. 

Grimes again postponed a decision on disclosure after receiving more calls 

regarding low-level seismic activity on May 28.  Id. 
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 On June 1, 2018 Red River filed a Form 10-Q announcing the company’s 

financial and operating results for the quarter.  Id.  The 10-Q listed among Red 

River’s Risk Factors the possibility that its “operations could be subject to 

disruption by natural disasters beyond our control,” including “severe storms, 

fires, earthquakes, civil unrest, and terrorist attacks.”  (R. 7-8).    

On June 10, 2018, a series of mid-level seismic shocks rocked the Eagle 

Ford Shale, destroying the integrity of Red River’s toxic wastewater storage site.  

(R. 8).  Millions of gallons of wastewater infiltrated the West Texas groundwater 

and seeped into the regional aquifers.  Id.  This event caused Red River’s 

common stock price to plummet from $126 before the disaster to $94.50 by the 

market’s close on June 10, 2018.  Id.  Unfortunately for the Respondents, each 

party had purchased shares of Red River stock a week or less before this 

environmental occurrence. Id.  On June 3, 2018, the TRSF purchased Red 

River Shares for $27 million and the FMRF purchased shares for $31 million 

on June 7.  Id.   

 On August 1, 2018, investigations by federal and state environmental 

agencies revealed that Red River had been using excessive amounts of 

explosives to condition the shale rock for the injection process.  Id.  The reports 

were inconclusive as to whether blasting had contributed to the seismic 

activity, although all concurred the fracking process was the proximate cause 

of the wastewater escaping the storage site.  Id.  The reports also concluded 

that Red River’s wastewater storage tanks were filled beyond recommended 

capacity.  Id.   
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SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

 The statements made in Red River’s Annual Report and statements made 

by Mr. Wilson are inactionable as a matter of law under the Securities and 

Exchange Act of 1934.  According to Rule 10(b)(5), cases involving any untrue 

statements of material facts or omissions made by a company in connection 

with the purchase of any security will be analyzed under 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b). To 

survive a motion to dismiss under Rule 9 of the Federal Rules of Civil 

Procedure and the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act (“PSLRA”), the 

Plaintiffs must allege with particularity facts constituting fraud by a company. 

Fed. R. Civ. P. 9(b); 15 U.S.C. § 78(u)-4(b)(2) (2018).  Without allegations plead 

with particularity in the complaint, a court must grant a defendant’s motion to 

dismiss.  

 The Circuit Court of Appeals erred in denying Red River’s Motion to 

Dismiss on the grounds that the Respondents’ complaint failed to identify 

actionable misstatements of material fact and to allege scienter.  First, several 

of the challenged statements made by Red River in the 2018 Annual Report 

involve statements of mere corporate mismanagement, and not shareholder 

deception. Stmts. 2-4 regarding Red River’s environmental commitments and 

practices were not made with the intent to deceive shareholders of the safety of 

its operations at the time they were made. Although the Respondent’s allege 

Red River failed to investigate the seismic activity after receiving phone calls 

from nearby geology departments, the decision not to investigate was made by 

experienced experts in the field of fracking based on the information available 
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to them at that time.  Red River cannot be held liable for subsequent events 

that, in hindsight, could have been avoided if a different corporate decision 

were to have been made.  

Second, the challenged statements were vague statements that were 

inactionable as a matter of law because no reasonable investor would rely upon 

them due to their vagueness.  Courts have held that general statements of 

corporate optimism and vague statements describing a company’s commitment 

to norms are inactionable statements of puffery that no investor would rely 

upon given their vagueness.  The statements being challenged are statements 

of puffery as no investor would ever rely upon them due to their vagueness, 

clear hyperbole and availability of additional information in the market.  

 Third, complaints must state with particularity that the defendant acted 

with the required state of mind. 15 U.S.C. § 78(u)-4(b)(2) (2018). Establishing 

scienter requires a showing of intent to manipulate, deceive, or defraud and 

generally requires a showing above mere negligence. Tellabs, Inc. v. Makor 

Issues and Rights, Ltd., 551 U.S. 303, 313 (2007); Owens v. Jastro, 789 F.3d 

529, 539 (5th Cir. 2015). The statements made by Mr. Wilson were largely in 

relation to his confidence in his company and its policies rather than outright 

guarantees to the public. Although Mr. Wilson and Red River received some 

reports of low-level seismic activity, there was no scientific evidence to show 

that the activity was caused specifically by the fracking. Additionally, the 

company planned to conduct an investigation into the reports at an upcoming 

environmental practices review. There is no information in the record to 
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suggest an intent to defraud. Therefore, The Circuit Court of Appeals erred in 

denying Red River’s Motion to Dismiss on the grounds that the Respondents’ 

complaint failed to identify actionable misstatements of material fact and to 

allege scienter.   

The Circuit Court of Appeals further erred in denying the dismissal of the 

Respondent’s Section 20(a) claim by failing to require the allegation that the 

control person was a culpable participant in the primary violation. Although 

there is a circuit split on whether a culpable participant standard applies, the 

plain meaning of the statutory text as well as the legislative history establish 

that the standard should apply. First, the plain meaning of control relates to 

being able to direct the behavior of others. The meaning suggests that Mr. 

Wilson would have to be actively involved in fraudulent activity to fall under the 

provision for control person liability. Second, the legislative history of Section 

20(a) supports the requirement of a culpable participant standard. Two 

versions of the statute were introduced before it was enacted into law. The 

House version suggested a “fiduciary standard” for establishing control person 

liability, and the Senate version suggested an “insurer’s liability” standard. 

Congress rejected the insurer’s liability version, which suggests that the 

legislature intended for culpability to be required. Therefore, the Court of 

Appeals erred in determining that the Respondents did not need to plead that 

Mr. Wilson was a culpable participant.  
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ARGUMENT 

I. RED RIVER’S STATEMENTS REGARDING THEIR 
ENVIRONMENTAL COMMITMENTS, PRACTICES AND RISKS ARE 
INACTIONABLE UNDER 15 U.S.C. § 78J(B).  

 
The Respondents failed to adequately plead actionable material 

misstatements by Red River concerning their environmental commitments and 

practices, and to allege scienter as required by the PSLRA of 1995.  The 

Securities and Exchange Act of 1934 embraces a purpose to “substitute a 

philosophy of full disclosure for the philosophy of caveat emptor.”  See In re 

MobileMedia Sec. Litig., 28 F. Supp. 2d 901, 923 (D.N.J. 1998) (quoting 

Affiliated Ute Citizens of Utah v. United States, 406 U.S. 128, 151 (1972)).  

Section 10(b) of the Securities and Exchange Act declares it unlawful to “use or 

employ, in connection with the purchase or sale of any security … any 

manipulative deceive or contrivance in contravention of the rules and 

regulations” prescribed by the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”).  

15 U.S.C. § 78j.  In conjunction, Rule 10(b)(5) makes it unlawful to “make any 

untrue statement of material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary in 

order to make the statements made in light of the circumstances under which 

they were made, not misleading” in connection with the purchase or sale of any 

security. 17 C.F.R. § 240 10b-5 (1993).  

In order to state an actionable claim under Section 10(b) and Rule 

10(b)(5), a plaintiff must allege that the defendant (1) made material 

misrepresentations or omissions; (2) with scienter; (3) in connection with the 

purchase or sale of a security; (4) upon which the plaintiff relied; (5) causing 
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economic loss as a result of the material misrepresentation. See Dura 

Pharmaceuticals v. Broudo, 544 U.S. 336, 341-42 (2005).  Because claims 

under Section 10(b) involve allegations of fraud, plaintiffs are required by Rule 

9(b) and the PSLRA to specify the circumstances constituting fraud with 

particularity, including the defendant’s state of mind. Fed. R. Civ. P. 9(b); 15 

U.S.C § 78(u)-4(b)(1).  This heightened pleading requirement provides 

defendants “with notice of the claims against them, provides an increased 

measure of protection for their reputations, and reduces the number of 

frivolous suits brought solely to extract settlements.” In re Burlington Coat 

Factory Sec. Litig., 114 F.3d 1410, 1427 (3rd Cir. 1997).  The U.S. Court of 

Appeals for the 5th Circuit erred in reversing the decision of the District Court 

of Fordham, determining that the Respondents adequately alleged materially 

misleading statements and properly pleaded scienter.  

 
A. Mr. Wilson’s Statements About Red River’s Environmental 

Commitments, Practices and Risks Are Immaterial Statements of 
Corporate Mismanagement and Puffery. 

 
The statements made by Mr. Wilson in regard to Red River’s 

environmental commitments, practices, and risks are not actionable 

misrepresentations of material facts as alleged by the Respondents.  An 

actionable misrepresentation must be “misleading as to a material fact.”  

Matrixx Initiatives v. Siracusano, 563 U.S. 27, 38 (2011).  A statement is 

misleading under Section 10(b) when it misrepresents a material fact or omits a 

material fact necessary to make the statement not misleading. 17 C.F.R. § 240.  
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An omitted fact is material if there is a substantial likelihood would have had 

significance in the deliberations of a reasonable shareholder.  TSC Industries v. 

Northway, Inc., 426 U.S. 438, 449 (1976).  The reliance of a plaintiff on alleged 

misstatements or omissions must be reasonable, even though the burden of 

proof is upon the defendant to show reliance was not reasonable.  In re Mobile 

Media, 28 F. Supp. 2d at 934.  For a statement to be actionable, it must have 

been materially misleading at the time it was made.  Id.  Statements are 

required to be complete and accurate. In re Morgan Stanley Info. Fund Sec. 

Litig., 592 F.3d 347, 366 (2nd Cir. 2010).   

The statements in question were made by Red River in its March 1, 2018 

Form 10-K expressing Red River’s commitment to environmental protection, 

describing Red River’s environmental practices and describing the risks 

associated with fracking, and by Mr. Wilson regarding the safety of Red River’s 

practices at the May 15, 2018 investor conference.  The Court of Appeals erred 

in concluding that the Respondents plead sufficient facts to render Red River 

and Mr. Wilson’s statements actionable under Section 10(b) and survive Red 

River’s motion to dismiss.  

 
i. The “Central Thrust” of Stmts. 2-4 Regarding the Safety of 

Red River’s Operations are Inactionable Statements Regarding 
Corporate Mismanagement.   

 
The statements found in Red River’s Annual Reports regarding the safety 

of its operations amount only to acts of corporate mismanagement. Allegations 

amounted only to corporate mismanagement are inactionable as a matter of 
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law.  Santa Fe Industries, Inc. v. Green, 430 U.S. 462 (1977) (finding that 

federal securities laws could not be invoked to regulate internal corporate 

mismanagement and that Section 10(b) and Rule 10(b)(5) should not be 

expanded to “cover the corporate universe”).  Under Santa Fe, claims are 

barred if the “central thrust” arises from acts of corporate mismanagement.  

Panter v. Marshall Field & Co., 646 F.2d 271, 289 (7th Cir. 1981).  If claims 

adequately allege that the defendant violated its obligation not to mislead, the 

claims will not be dismissed on the grounds of corporate mismanagement.  See 

In re MobileMedia, 28 F. Supp. 2d at 927.  Liability cannot be imposed on the 

basis of subsequent events.  Id. at 925.   

In In re Mobile Media, the court held that allegations of material 

omissions that are independent of the existence of mismanagement are 

sufficient to not dismiss the Complaint.  Id. at 927.  Plaintiffs allege that 

MobileMedia violated the Securities and Exchange Act by failing to disclose 

certain integrated problems following its’ acquisitions of Dial Page and 

MobileComm.  Id. at 913.  The allegations that MobileMedia was aware it was 

experiencing material difficulties integrating Dial Page are allegations that are 

not primarily concerned with the instances of mismanagement that created the 

integration problems, and thus, are alleging more than corporate 

mismanagement.  Id. at 927.   

However, in Panter, the plaintiffs failed to allege sufficient evidence that 

the defendant violated Rule 10(b)(5) by issuing a stream of deceptive or 

misleading statements and engaged in conduct which acted as deception.  
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Panter, 646 F.2d at 289.  In a press conference, the defendant recounted how 

“confident about the future of the company” management was, and that 

“momentum within the company was excellent.”  Id.  These statements, 

coupled with a public letter which cited a 13% increase in net income, was 

misleading in that it failed to disclose that the company’s five-year plan showed 

an anticipated 7% decline in net income for the year.  Id. at 292.  Because 

companies’ do not have a duty to disclose financial projections that are 

prepared for internal management decisions, those statements and financial 

projections were not misleading.  Id. at 293.   

Additionally, Second Circuit courts have held that deliberate 

misrepresentations of corporate misrepresentations are actionable, but “garden 

variety state law claims of breach of fiduciary duty” are not.  Suez Equity 

Investors, L.P v. Toronto-Dominion Bank, 250 F.3d 87, 99 (2d Cir. 2001).  In 

Suez Equity Investors, the defendants allegedly made an affirmative 

misrepresentation to outside investors concerning the quality of the proffered 

securities.  Id.  Because the complaint alleged the plaintiffs were lured into 

investing, and not simply that they disagreed with the defendant’s business 

choices, the matter is actionable. Id.  

Like in Panter, the public statements made by Red River arose from 

inactionable corporate mismanagement.  The statements in dispute made by 

Red River in their 2018 Annual Report about their environmental commitments 

and practices are: “Red River’s highest priority was “ensuring that [its] drilling 

activity continues to be conducted in a manner consistent with protecting the 
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environment and preventing or remediating damage resulting from an 

environmental occurrence (Stmt. 2), Red River frequently reviewed its 

environmental practices to “ensure protection of the environment” (Stmt. 3), 

and that Red River used “the latest technology” to “minimize surface water or 

soil contamination” (Stmt. 4).  (R. 6).  To find these statements are alleging 

shareholder deception that surpasses mere mismanagement would expand 

Section 10(b) liability beyond the boundaries set by Santa Fe.  Federal 

securities laws were not intended to create a federal cause of action to “cover 

the corporate universe” and insert itself in conduct traditionally left to the 

States.  See Santa Fe, 430 U.S. at 478.   

 The central thrust of Respondent’s claim arose from inactionable 

corporate mismanagement because Respondent’s failed to plead any facts that 

supported Respondent’s allegations that Red River’s statements were 

misleading at the time they were made.  Respondent’s allege that Red River 

took no precautions to mitigate any potential environmental consequences 

after receiving a few phone calls reporting low-level seismic activity and 

wastewater storage.  However, Red River management thoroughly discussed 

the seismic activity in regard to the fracking activity in the Eagle Ford Shale 

and determined that the threat was not immediate but warranted investigation 

in July in conjunction with the company’s upcoming environmental practices 

review.  (R. 7).  This determination was made based off of the expertise and 

decades of experience that each member of the Board possessed.   
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Red River had been engaged in the process of fracking since 2000.  Over 

the eighteen years spent engaged in fracking in West Texas, the Respondents 

have failed to allege any incidents that there have been instances of seismic 

activity attributed to fracking that would have put Red River on notice. Nor 

have the Respondents alleged that Red River has had any knowledge that 

fracking in the West Texas aquifers was attributable to seismic activity from 

any other source.  Ms. Thompson, who has spent her career in large oil field 

service companies, was the only member of the Board who had heard of such 

occurrences. (R. 7).  On top of that, Ms. Thompson had only heard such 

occurrences through scattered anecdotal reports from fracking in South 

Dakota, not Texas.  Id.  None of the Board members have any information 

through scientific reports or studies that link seismic activity to fracking.  

Thus, there is no indication that at the time Stmts. 2-4 were made Red River 

had knowledge of the connection between seismic activity and fracking.   

Mr. Wilson, Ms. Thompson and Ms. Grimes made a business decision to 

wait to investigate the alleged connection between fracking and seismic activity 

until the July review.  This decision was due to the lack of knowledge, not due 

to a lack of commitment to environmental safety.  Unlike in Suez Equity 

Investors, Respondents simply disagree with Red River’s business decision in 

hindsight.  Red River cannot be held liable on the basis of subsequent events.  

The central thrust of Respondent’s allegations thus goes toward corporate 

management, not shareholder deception, and is inactionable as a matter of 

law.  
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ii. Statements Found in the Annual Report are Inactionable 
Statements of Puffery that No Investor Would Rely Upon Due 
to Vagueness 

 
Stmts. 2, 4, 5, 7, and 8 are vague statements of corporate optimism upon 

which no reasonable shareholder could have relied.  Statements of puffery, 

including general statements of corporate optimism and vague statements 

describing a company’s integrity and commitment to norms, are the 

“quintessential examples” of statements found to be inactionable as a matter of 

law. In re Banco Bradesco S.A. Sec. Litig., 277 F. Supp. 3d 600, 647 (S.D.N.Y. 

2017).  Statements of puffery are inactionable because these statements are too 

vague or general to be considered misleading, and no reasonable investor 

would rely upon them given their vagueness.  Id.  A court should grant a 

motion to dismiss on the ground that challenged statements are puffery if the 

statements are “unimportant to a reasonable investor that reasonable minds 

could not differ on the question of their unimportance.”  In re Ford Motor Co. 

Sec. Litig., 381 F.3d 563, 570 (6th Cir. 2004).   

While statements of “general corporate optimism” are rarely actionable, a 

company’s statements describing business practices may be actionable when 

they amount to a guarantee to investors or when the speaker does not 

automatically hold the views espoused.  IBEW Local Union No. 58 Pension Tr. 

Fund & Annuity Fund v. Royal Bank of Scotland Grp., PLC, 783 F.3d 383, 392 

(2d Cir. 2015). Whether optimistic statements are actionable under Section 

10(b) often depends on the breadth or specificity of the challenged statements 

and the context in which the statements are made.  Novak v. Kasaks, 216 F.3d 
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300, 315 (2d Cir. 2000) (general statements that inventory was “in good shape” 

and “under control” actionable where defendants knew the contrary was true).  

Whether a representation is ‘mere puffery’ depends, in part, on the context in 

which it is made.  In re Petrobras Sec. Litig., 116 F. Supp. 3d 368, 381 (S.D.N.Y. 

2015).   

In In re MobileMedia, the court found that the statement “[W]e will ensure 

that we continue to provide our customers with the best and most reliable 

service” is the type of puffery that has been found to be immaterial as a matter 

of law.  In re MobileMedia, 28 F. Supp. 2d at 938.  Likewise, an executive’s 

statement to investors that the “company believed it could continue to grow net 

earnings at a faster rate than sales” was found to be inactionable puffery.  See 

In re Burlington Coat Factory Sec. Litig., 114 F.3d at 1427.  Investors are 

sophisticated parties, familiar with the ins and outs of the business and use to 

promotional speech made by executives.  Id.    

Additionally, third party disclosures can render misstatements and 

omissions immaterial.  Kurzwell v. Philip Morris Co., 1995 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 

13030 (S.D.N.Y Sep. 8, 1995).  Failure to disclose relevant information may be 

excused where that information has been made credibly available to the market 

by other sources.  See Apple Computer Sec. Litig., 886 F.2d 1109, 1115 (9th Cir. 

1989).   

Like the statements made in In re Burlington Coat Factory, Stmt. 2 (“Red 

River’s highest priority was “ensuring that [its] drilling activity continues to be 

conducted in a manner consistent with protecting the environment”) and Stmt. 
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4 (“Red River used “the latest technology” to “minimize surface water or soil 

contamination”) are statements of general optimism that are inactionable as a 

matter of law.  The challenged statements refer to general commitments to the 

environment and Red River’s efforts to comply with “best practices”.  Any and 

all businesses “fluff” up their Annual Reports with similar language, essentially 

stating that they are in compliance with the laws and standards of the 

industry.  No additional details accompany these general commitments and are 

thus vague statements describing a company’s integrity and commitment to 

norms.  Like the Court of Appeals concluded that Stmt. 1 (“Our commitment to 

protecting the environment is unwavering and constant”) is too general for a 

reasonable investor to have relied unable, Stmt. 2 and Stmt. 4 are also too 

general for a reasonable investor to have relied upon due to their vagueness.  

Thus, the challenged statements are too vague to foster shareholder reliance as 

no reasonable investor would consider important in deciding how to act.   

 Stmt. 5 (“[f]racking involves no serious environmental issues not 

associated with conventional drilling”) and Stmt. 8 (“[o]ur operations could be 

subject to disruption by natural disasters beyond our control, including severe 

storms, fires, earthquakes, civil unrest, and terrorist attacks”) are also vague, 

inactionable statements that not materially misleading to shareholders.  The 

Respondents argue that these statements are sufficiently definite to have 

engendered shareholder reliance and were misleading because they omitted 

material information related to risks facing Red River.   
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A company has a duty to keep its shareholders informed about the 

business and the marketplace for the business so that investors can make fully 

informed investment decisions.  However, a company does not have a duty to 

furnish all potential adverse information, nor provide this information as soon 

as management learns of it.  Investors do not want to be drowned in an 

avalanche of unimportant information, nor do companies want to take the time 

or resources to provide useless information.  See Basic v. Levinson, 485 U.S. 

224, 231-32 (1988).  A reasonable investor would not have wanted or needed 

information regarding the phone calls and scatted reports of seismic activity as 

there is no evidence of the connection between fracking and the seismic activity 

in the area.   

Even if Red River had failed to disclose material information related to 

risks associated with fracking, information regarding the risks of fracking can 

be found by other sources in the market.  Investors were not limited to Red 

River’s Annual Report to learn about fracking before making an informed 

decision to invest or not.  A diligent investor, or an investor that plans to invest 

millions of dollars in a company, would and should research and examine 

additional materials outside of Red River’s Annual Report to learn of any 

potential risks with fracking.   

Red River informs investors that there are no serious environmental 

issues if drilling is done in a conventional, established manner in the Annual 

Report (Stmt. 5).  This has been Red River’s experience with fracking since they 

began back in 2000.  However, Red River puts investors on notice with Stmt. 8 
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that Mother Nature always places a risk in the business and that the 

company’s operations could be affected outside of their control.  This 

information informs a diligent investor that there are some risks involved and 

provides an investor the opportunity to learn more without drowning the 

reasonable investor in an avalanche of unimportant information.  Thus, Stmt. 

5 and Stmt. 8 are inactionable because a reasonable investor would not have 

desired this information disclosed and could have obtained information 

involving the risks of fracking from other, outside sources.   

Like Stmt. 6 (“I think we have the tightest environmental practices in the 

West Texas oil patch”) in which the Court of Appeals determined was 

inactionable, Stmt. 7 (“I honestly believe a major environmental event has 

about a zero percent chance of occurring on our property. We just pay too 

much attention for that to happen”) is also inactionable.  Both statements are 

the prototypical statements of general corporate optimism that shareholders 

expect from the CEO of a company.   

Stmt. 7 is so clearly hyperbole that no reasonable investor would not 

have considered this a guarantee that Red River’s business was immune from 

environmental disasters. See In re Burlington Coat Factory Sec. Litig., 114 F.3d 

at 1427 (an investor would not be swayed by the executive’s belief of a 

company’s future growth as it is easily identifiable that these statements are 

the executive’s subjective opinion).  Stmt. 7 is comparable to the owner of a 

burger joint advertising that their restaurant has the “Best Burger in Town.” A 

bystander sees the advertisement and understands that the burger joint has a 
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good burger and takes pride in their burger, but the bystander has heard it all 

before and does not give the advertisement too much weight.  An investor can 

reasonably conclude that Stmt. 7, in no way, could be understood as a 

guarantee of invulnerability to environmental events by Red River.  Thus, Stmt. 

7 is inactionable as a matter of law.  

For the foregoing reasons, the Court of Appeals erred in determining that 

the Respondents pleaded sufficient facts to render Stmts. 2-5, 7, and 8 

inactionable as a matter of law.   

 
B. The Circuit Court of Appeals Erred in Determining that the 

Respondents Plead Sufficient Facts with Particularity to Show Red 
River Acted with Scienter.  

 
 The Circuit Court of Appeals incorrectly concluded that the Respondents 

pleaded sufficient facts to show Red River acted with scienter. Under the 

PSLRA, a complaint must “state with particularity facts giving rise to a strong 

inference that the defendant acted with the required state of mind.” 15 U.S.C. § 

78(u)-4(b)(2). The scienter requirement relates to a party’s “intention ‘to 

deceive, manipulate, or defraud.’” Tellabs, Inc., 551 U.S. at 313 (quoting Ernst 

& Ernst v. Hochfelder, 425 U.S. 185, 194 (1976)). It is not sufficient to say that 

a reasonable factfinder could infer the required state of mind from the 

complaint’s allegations. Id. at 314. However, if it can be shown that it is “at 

least as likely as” not that a party acted with the required knowledge or intent, 

a claim may survive. Merck & Co. v. Reynolds, 559 U.S. 633, 649 (2010).  
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A comparative analysis must be completed to determine whether a 

complaint’s scienter allegations can meet the sufficiency standard. Tellabs, Inc., 

551 U.S. at 314. In addition to considering inferences alleged by the plaintiff, 

the court must also consider “competing inferences rationally drawn from the 

facts alleged.” Id. “[A]n inference of scienter must be more than merely 

plausible or reasonable--it must be cogent and at least as compelling as any 

opposing inference of nonfraudulent intent.” Id. Courts must view allegations 

holistically rather than individually. Matrixx Initiatives, 563 U.S. at 48. 

Allegations of motive and opportunity alone will not be sufficient to meet the 

scienter requirement under the PSLRA. Owens v. Jastrow, 789 F.3d 529, 539 

(5th Cir. 2015).  

Where a subject or company acts with mere negligence rather than 

severe recklessness, the scienter requirement will not be met. Id. at 536. 

Owens involved a lawsuit brought against executives of Guaranty Bank alleging 

that they made false and misleading statements concerning Guaranty’s 

financial situation. Id. at 533. The suit was commenced by stockholders and 

alleged that the defendants knew Guaranty had an undercapitalization 

problem and had a motive to overstate the bank’s mortgage-backed securities 

portfolio in an attempt to obtain needed capital. Id. at 538. The complaint 

further alleged that there were red flags that should have indicated the 

mortgage-backed securities valuation was incorrect, there were misstatements 

made to the public, and there was a disregard of internal warnings concerning 

the valuation. Id. at 540-43. The court concluded that, when the circumstances 
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were considered holistically, scienter was not sufficiently alleged because the 

allegations did not support a strong inference of severe recklessness that was 

equally as likely as a finding of negligence. Id. at 545.   

Similar to Jastrow, the allegations against Red River and Mr. Wilson do 

not rise to a level of severe recklessness that would support a finding of 

scienter. Red River hired the services of both an environmental officer and a 

general counsel attorney to ensure the company was in compliance with 

regulatory laws and public disclosure requirements. (R. 3). Although Red River 

received reports of low-level seismic activity in 2017, the environmental 

compliance team believed it was unlikely that it was related to fracking, and it 

was more likely attributable to the discharge of wastewater, which is also 

present in normal drilling procedures. (R. 5). When a second report was 

received in May 2018, the company planned to conduct an investigation during 

the environmental practices review only two months away. (R. 7). Mr. Wilson 

was notified by his engineers that Red River’s water storage facilities were close 

to capacity, but they were not reported to be over capacity. (R. 5). They were 

also reported to be structurally sound. Id. Mr. Wilson received limited 

information about possible risks rather than information that would lead to the 

conclusion that immediate action was necessary. Mr. Wilson’s actions did not 

rise to the level of recklessness required to establish scienter. 

Looking to the challenged statements made by Mr. Wilson, many were 

general statements about the company’s commitment to environmental 

compliance. (R. 6). When he stated, “I think we have the tightest environmental 
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practices in the West Texas oil patch” and “I honestly believe a major 

environmental event has about a zero percent chance of occurring on our 

property,” he was expressing an opinion and showing confidence in his 

company rather than making an outright guarantee. (R. 7). Although the 

reports of low-level seismic activity were not disclosed to the public, it was 

reasonable because it had not been confirmed that the seismic activity was the 

result of fracking. Id. The company did disclose that operations could be 

disrupted if a natural disaster such as an earthquake were to occur. (R. 7-8). 

Based on the limited information Red River had about seismic activity reports, 

it was not foreseeable that a disaster was imminent. Mr. Wilson took the steps 

he felt were appropriate and in compliance with the law in running his 

company. Although he may have had a motive to minimize the risks of fracking 

operations, that motive alone is not enough to satisfy the scienter requirement 

of the PSLRA.  

Assuming the argument is made that Mr. Wilson and Red River were 

negligent in their operations, that negligence does not rise to the higher 

standard of recklessness that is generally required to establish scienter. 

Additionally, when viewing the actions of Red River as a whole, there is nothing 

in the record to indicate that an intent to manipulate, deceive, or defraud, is 

equally as compelling as the argument for nonfraudulent intent. Red River had 

plans to investigate whether the low-level seismic activity was caused by its 

fracking operation, but a natural disaster occurred before the company could 

investigate the issue. Because there is insufficient evidence to support a finding 
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of intent to deceive, manipulate, or defraud, the Circuit Court of Appeals erred 

in concluding that the Respondents adequately alleged scienter.  

 
II. THE COURT OF APPEALS ERRED IN CONCLUDING THAT 

CULPABLE PARTICIPATION IS NOT AN ELEMENT OF CONTROL 
PERSON LIABILITY. 

 
 The Circuit Court of Appeals incorrectly concluded that the Respondents 

were not required to plead Wilson’s culpable participation in the primary 

violation as an element of control person liability under Section 20(a). Section 

20(a) of the PSLRA provides that: 

Every person who, directly or indirectly, controls any person liable 
under any provision . . . shall also be liable jointly and severally with 
and to the same extent as such controlled person to any person to 
whom such controlled person is liable . . . unless the controlling 
person acted in good faith and did not directly or indirectly induce 
the act or acts constituting the violation or cause of action. 15 U.S.C. 
§ 78t (a).  
 

Certain circuits have ruled that plaintiffs must also plead a defendant’s 

culpable participation in the primary violation as an element of the Section 

20(a) claim (ATSI Communs., Inc. v. Shaar Fund, Ltd., 579 F.3d 143 (2d 

Cir. 2009); Belmont v. MB Inv. Partners, Inc., 708 F.3d 470 (3d Cir. 2013)) 

while others have declined to adopt the rule (Harrison v. Dean Witter 

Reynolds, Inc.,974 F.2d 873, 880 (7th Cir. 1992); Hollinger v. Titan Capital 

Corp., 914 F.2d 1564, 1575 (9th Cir. 1990); Metge v. Baehler, 762 F.2d 

621, 631 (8th Cir. 1985)). 

First, the plain text of the statute will show that a culpable 

participation is a required element for a Section 20(a) claim. Second, the 
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legislative history of Section 20(a) will show that a culpable participant 

standard should apply. Therefore, the Circuit Court of Appeals incorrectly 

concluded that the Respondents were not required to plead that Mr. 

Wilson was a culpable participant in the primary violation under Section 

20(a).  

A. The Plain Meaning of Section 20(A) Supports the Finding of a 
Culpable Participant Standard.  

 
 The ordinary meaning of the text in Section 20(a) suggests that a 

culpable participant standard should apply. Plain meaning should be the 

starting pint of statutory interpretation. Estate of Cowart v. Nicklos Drilling 

Co., 505 U.S. 469, 475 (1992). If the plain meaning is clear, that 

interpretation will control. Id. If the statute is found to be ambiguous, 

courts may look to the legislative history of the statute to determine 

meaning. United States v. Pub. Utils. Com., 345 U.S. 295, 315 (1953). 

 Section 20(a) imposes liability on any “person who, directly or 

indirectly, controls any person liable under any provision” of the PSLRA. 

15 U.S.C. § 78t(a). Control is defined in Black’s Law Dictionary as “the 

direct or indirect power to govern the management and policies of a person 

or entity.” BLACK’S LAW DICTIONARY (10th ed. 2014). Merriam-Webster 

defines control as “to have power over.” MERRIAM-WEBSTER, 

https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/control (last visited Feb. 

28, 2009). Both definitions suggest that power needs to be exercised over 

another to establish control. The requirement of exercising power suggests 
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that the text of Section 20(a) requires one to have intent in the direction of 

the actions of others. It follows that one would need to have a culpable 

mental state to be considered in control of others. Therefore, it should be 

required that Mr. Wilson be a culpable participant in the primary violation 

for him to be held liable under control-person liability.  

One counterargument sometimes advanced against the culpable 

participant standard relates to the good faith exception under Section 

20(a). It could be said that the good faith exception would be surplusage if 

a culpable participant standard was also required. However, the good faith 

exception is a confirmation that Congress wanted a culpability 

requirement because the exception provides an affirmative defense for 

control persons who act in good faith. Because the plain language of the 

statute supports the finding of a culpable participant standard, the Court 

of Appeals erred in finding that the Respondents did not have to allege that 

Mr. Wilson was a culpable participant.  

 
B. The Legislative History of Section 20(A) Supports the Finding of 

a Culpable Participant Element.  
 

Legislative record prior to the enactment of Section 20(a) shows that a 

culpable participant standard should apply. If the Court finds that the meaning 

of “control” under Section 20(a) is not dispositive, it may look the legislative 

history for clues of interpretation. Pub. Utils. Com., 345 U.S. 295, 315 (1953).  

Prior to enacting the statute, the House and the Senate each developed a 

version of which standard should apply to “controlling persons” under Section 
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20(a). Rochez Bros., Inc. v. Rhoades, 527 F.2d 880, 885 (3d Cir. 1975). The 

House version suggested a “fiduciary standard,” and the Senate version 

suggested an “insurer’s liability” section. Id. (citing S. Rep. 47, 73d Cong., 1st 

Sess. 5 (1933) (The Fletcher Report); H.R. Rep. 85, 73d Cong., 1st Sess. 5 

(1933); H.R. Rep. 152, 73d Cong., 1st Sess. 27 (1933). Congress chose to adopt 

the House version in enacting the statute. Id.  

 Because Congress expressly rejected the “insurer’s liability” standard 

advanced by the Senate, it can be inferred that it did not wish to impose 

liability on anyone with a high-level management role, irrespective of their 

involvement. Some type of culpable mental state needs to apply. If Congress 

had not been concerned about culpability, it likely would have imposed the 

“insurer’s liability” standard.  

Additionally, there is a policy argument against making high-level 

officials insurers of company liability. Company owners may supervise from 

afar and delegate responsibilities to additional management personnel. Mr. 

Wilson relied on the guidance of his environmental advisor and general counsel 

concerning disclosure requirements. He delegated the responsibility of ensuring 

that regulatory compliance was achieved to that environmental officer and 

general counsel. To hold Mr. Wilson responsible without establishing that he 

was a culpable participant in the primary violation would frustrate the 

legislative intent and present concerns of fundamental fairness. It would be the 

equivalent of employing the “insurer’s liability” standard that Congress 

expressly rejected. Because the legislative history of Section 20(a) supports the 
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finding of a culpable participant element, the Court of Appeals erred in 

concluding that the Respondents were not required to plead Mr. Wilson’s 

culpable participation as an element of control person liability. 

 
CONCLUSION 

 
         The purpose of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, in conjunction 

with Rule 10(b), is to prevent the filing of frivolous lawsuits brought solely to 

extract large settlements and to protect a company’s reputation.  This Court 

should grant the Petitioner’s Motion to Dismiss to protect the purpose of this 

Act.  The challenged statements made by Red River and Mr. Wilson are 

inactionable statements under the Act because they are general, vague 

statements in which no reasonable investor would rely upon in connection with 

the purchase or sale of security.  Additionally, there are no facts in the record 

to suggest that Red River and Mr. Wilson acted with intent to deceive, 

manipulate, or defraud, or that an inference of scienter was at least as 

compelling as an inference of nonfraudulent intent. Finally, the plain meaning 

and legislative history of Section 20(a) support the requirement of alleging that 

a party must be a culpable participant in the primary violation to establish 

control person liability. Thus, for the foregoing reasons, the Petitioner 

respectfully requests that this Court reverse the holding of the Circuit Court of 

Appeals and grant Red River and Mr. Wilson’s Motion to Dismiss.  

 

 


